**ADDRESS: 2301-41 S 3RD ST**  
Name of Resource: Our Lady of Mount Carmel Church  
Proposed Action: Designation  
Property Owner: Archdiocese of Philadelphia  
Nominator: Celeste Morello  
Staff Contact: Meredith Keller, meredith.keller@phila.gov

**OVERVIEW:** This nomination proposes to designate Our Lady of Mount Carmel Church and rectory, two buildings on a larger parcel at 2301-41 S. 3rd Street, and list them on the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places. The nomination contends that the church and rectory satisfy Criteria for Designation D and F. Under Criterion D, the nomination contends that the church building embodies distinguishing characteristics of the Tudor Gothic style of architecture. Under Criterion F, the nomination argues that the church building’s architectural sculpture by the Economy Concrete Company represents an anomaly for English Gothic churches.

**STAFF RECOMMENDATION:** The staff recommends that the nomination demonstrates that the church building at 2301-41 S. 3rd Street satisfies Criterion for Designation D, with the clarification that the style is Late Gothic Revival with some Tudor Revival elements and is not “Tudor Gothic.” The staff also recommends that the nomination fails to demonstrate that the property satisfies Criterion F, because no argument is offered to demonstrate that the church or rectory represents a significant innovation. Finally, because the nomination fails to include the rectory in the Statement of Significance and no arguments for its significance are made, the staff recommends that the boundary be redrawn to exclude it from this nomination.
1. **ADDRESS OF HISTORIC RESOURCE** *(must comply with an Office of Property Assessment address)*
   - Street address: 2301-41 S. 3rd Street
   - Postal code: 19148

2. **NAME OF HISTORIC RESOURCE**
   - Historic Name: **Our Lady of Mount Carmel Roman Catholic Church**
   - Current/Common Name: **as above**

3. **TYPE OF HISTORIC RESOURCE**
   - ✔ Building
   - ✔ Structure
   - ✔ Site
   - ☐ Object

4. **PROPERTY INFORMATION**
   - Condition: ✔ excellent
   - ✔ good
   - ☐ fair
   - ☐ poor
   - ☐ ruins
   - Occupancy: ✔ occupied
   - ☐ vacant
   - ☐ under construction
   - ☐ unknown
   - Current use: **Active worship site (church); Residence for clergy (parish house)**

5. **BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION**
   - Please attach a narrative description and site/plot plan of the resource’s boundaries.

6. **DESCRIPTION**
   - Please attach a narrative description and photographs of the resource’s physical appearance, site, setting, and surroundings.

7. **SIGNIFICANCE**
   - Please attach a narrative Statement of Significance citing the Criteria for Designation the resource satisfies.
   - Period of Significance (from year to year): from 1901 to 1922
   - Date(s) of construction and/or alteration: 1901-03 (Rectory); 1923-24 (Church)
   - Architect, engineer, and/or designer: **Jacob Naschold; Charles J. Mitchell**
   - Builder, contractor, and/or artisan: **Wm. R. Dougherty (Church)**
   - Original owner: **Archdiocese of Philadelphia**
   - Other significant persons: **Saint Therese Martin, "Sister Theresa of the Child Jesus"**
**CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATION:**

The historic resource satisfies the following criteria for designation (check all that apply):

- [ ] (a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person significant in the past; or,
- [ ] (b) Is associated with an event of importance to the history of the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or,
- [X] (c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style; or,
- [ ] (d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen; or,
- [ ] (e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer whose work has significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social, or cultural development of the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or,
- [X] (f) Contains elements of design, detail, materials or craftsmanship which represent a significant innovation; or,
- [ ] (g) Is part of or related to a square, park or other distinctive area which should be preserved according to an historic, cultural or architectural motif; or,
- [ ] (h) Owing to its unique location or singular physical characteristic, represents an established and familiar visual feature of the neighborhood, community or City; or,
- [ ] (i) Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in pre-history or history; or
- [ ] (j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community.

---

**8. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES**

*Please attach a bibliography.*

---

**9. NOMINATOR**

Organization ___________________________ Date ___________________________

Name with Title Celeste A. Morello, MS, MA Email ___________________________

Street Address 1234 S. Sheridan Street Telephone 215-334-6008

City, State, and Postal Code Philadelphia, PA 19147-4820

Nominator [ ] is ☑ is not the property owner.

---

**PHC USE ONLY**

Date of Receipt: April 19, 2021

☑ Correct-Complete ☐ Incorrect-Incomplete Date: 7/29/2021

Date of Notice Issuance: 7/30/2021

Property Owner at Time of Notice:

Name: Archdiocese of Philadelphia

Address: 222 N. 17th Street

City: Philadelphia State: PA Postal Code: 19103

Date(s) Reviewed by the Committee on Historic Designation: 

Date(s) Reviewed by the Historical Commission: 

Date of Final Action: 

[ ] Designated [ ] Rejected 12/7/18
5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION (Provided by PHC staff)

This nomination proposes to designate Our Lady of Mount Carmel Roman Catholic Church and rectory, two buildings on a larger parcel of 2301-41 S. 3rd Street that currently includes several buildings. The overall parcel is bounded by S. 3rd Street at the west, Wolf Street at the north, S. American Street at the east, and Ritner Street at the south.
The boundary of the church building and rectory begins at the southeast corner of S. 3rd Street and Wolf Street. The proposed boundary includes the footprint of the church and rectory, with a perimeter buffer.
BOUNDARIES: The lot measures 112 feet across by 400 feet long, encompassing the entire block from Third to American Street, Wolf to Ritner Street.

The Church building measures 51 feet across the facade; 71 feet spanning the transept; 120 feet long. No adjoining projections had been measured. The Rectory, contributing, is 40 feet on the Third Street side and 71 feet deep including the addition from a later date.

1 "Dedication Souvenir: Our Lady of Mt. Carmel, October Fifth Nineteen hundred and twenty-four." non-paginated. Our Lady of Mount Carmel parish file, Catholic Historical Research Center (CHRC), Philadelphia.

2 The church's architect was first identified as Charles J. Mitchell. Philadelphia Real Estate Record and Builders' Guide, December 14, 1921. The Rectory's architect was recorded as Jacob Naschold. PRERBG, May 1, 1901.
DESCRIPTION:

Our Lady of Mount Carmel Church (1922-1923) is the primary property to the contributing Rectory (1901). The Church is in a cruciform plan with the altar at the south wall. Architect Charles J. Mitchell described his design as "Gothic...with a feeling of Tudor." There is a clerestory level with five bays at the east and west walls with "blunt" arches different from the "equilateral" type of Gothic arch at the transepts and entries at ground level. Projected areas from the cruciform plan include the vestibule (north); sacristies for clergy and altar boys adjoining the altar area (south); and a one-story structure (shrine chapel) on American St. (east). A now-blind cloister of stone connects the church with the rectory and is not a contributing resource.

The church is of dressed ashlar "Foxcroft stone" in mortar with a contemporary material, "Economy concrete stone" trim to emphasize the windows and portals, creating more textures above and below the windows at the transept and facade. (See pages 9 and 20.) All of the windows have a clear membrane as protection, but the tracery is still visible. The most attractive element at the church is the projecting vestibule with the sculptural architecture. This will be addressed at criterion (f) later. (Below), the portal has
changed over the years with the addition of new jambs of the Economy concrete stone above the stone. (Refer to 1924 photograph.) The portal's doors are 12 feet high and are surmounted by panels with diamond-shaped glass panes as background to the figures or without the figures—"Tudor." The Economy concrete stone trim was more decorative around the narrow windows flanking the vestibule's portal. (See 1924 photo below.)

Behind the vestibule, as if a detachable structure, is the church with buttresses supporting the church's facade to the nave. (See below and on p. 9.) The buttresses on the east and west walls appear as bulky elements from the transepts' north walls at ground level while the clerestory level maintains the length of the nave.

The original use of the Economy concrete stone so elaborately at the windows in 1924 seems to meld the "Gothic Tudor" to Art Deco standards at the time. Note on page 10 how the window is drawn up and down with the vertical grooves and the ornamentation below the sill. The facade's upper window also has this "arch within a square" form which detracts from the type of arch around the window.

In 1924, as now, the roof is "variegated-colored" slate. Below, photograph from the "Dedication Souvenir" of 1924.
Sacred Heart Statue......Gift of Patrick J. Ryan
In Memory of His Wife, Katherine E. Ryan

Blessed Virgin's Altar.....Gift of John L. Murphy
In Memory of Lawrence C. and Margaret F. Murphy

St. Joseph's Altar......Pray for the Soul of Mrs. Michael Murphy,
Died December 27, 1923

Sanctuary Lamp and Six Candlesticks for Main Altar
Gift of Bernard A. Gallagher

Credence......Gift of James Cannon
In Memory of His Sister, Mrs. Katherine Ryan

Mrs. C. C. Candlesticks on Main Altar
In Memory of Manus J. McGee

Candlesticks on Blessed Virgin's Altar.....Gift of Eugene G. Miller
Candlesticks on St. Joseph's Altar......Gift of Mrs. Patrick Dowd

Architect Charles J. Mitchell's Discourse on Church:

Our Lady of Mount Carmel Church

Operations on the new Church of Our Lady of Mount Carmel were
started in the early Spring of 1922. The building, designed by Charles J.
Mitchell, R. A., A. I. A., is acknowledged to be one of the most beautiful
buildings in the archdiocese, and the most artistically designed edifice in the
southern section of Philadelphia.

The Church, situated on a plot of ground bounded by Third Street,
Wool Street and American Street, South, is designed in Gothic style, while a
great deal of the detail has been carried out with a feeling of Tudor. The
detail of the interior of the church has been carried out along very simple lines,
the lower end of the nave being composed of five bays, while the plan of the
Church is in the form of a Cross, the main altar and Sanctuary, flanked on
either side by the Priests' and boys' sacristies, form the head of the Cross.
Smaller side altars occupying the ends of the transept form the arms of the
Cross. A subsidiary boys' sacristy or store room and large heating plant are
in the basement.

One enters the building through the main entrance on Wool Street. A
smaller entrance is to be found on Third Street, while entrances to the sacristies
are to the rear of the building. A four-arched cloister joins the Priests' sacristy
to the rectory.

Upon entering through the main portals one is impressed by the beauty
of the narthex or vestibule. The dark-red tiles and black-tiled border, the
sand-finished walls, the groined-vaulted ceiling, a carved holy-water font at
either end, together with the heavy wrought-iron lanterns strike a note of
feeling and devotion.

On either side of the main entrance vestibule are smaller vestibules with-
stairs leading to the choir loft.

(From "Dedication Souvenir: Our Lady of Mt. Carmel Church.
October Fifth nineteen hundred and twenty-four," Catholic His-
torical Research Center, Philadelphia.(CHRC).)

Flanking the nave of the Church are small side aisles separated from the nave by a series of arches. The arches, together with heavy piers, support the clerestory. The interior of the Church is in sand finish, while the moldings above the clerestory windows, at the intersection of the nave and transept, have been treated in white, making a pleasant contrast. Huge piers, supporting the trusses of the roof, are accentuated in their treatment of detail, being suggested from floor to apex of vaulted ceiling and lined off in imitation of natural stone. Warmth is added to the interior by the red-and-white Spanish tile floor. Chancel floor is laid in black-and-white tile in pattern.

Foxcroft stone was used in the construction of the exterior walls. Economy concrete stone was used for all trim stone. The roof is of variegated colored slate.

Surmounting the two twelve-foot doors are two panels in cut stone, descriptive of the story of Our Lady of Mount Carmel. The panels portray Our Lady’s part in the origin of the Carmelite Dedication on the one hand and the most recent consecration on the other. The devotion to Our Lady of Mount Carmel is supposed to have had its beginning with the Prophet Elias III Kings, XVIII, 44) who, according to the interpretations of the Christian Fathers, saw the Blessed Virgin in the cloud on Mount Carmel, and later retired there (as the Carmelite order maintains) to found a monastery of Esseus, from which the later organizer of the Order of Carmelites, Berthold, is supposed to have received the inspiration of his institute. This account of the Carmelite origin is not accepted by the Bollandists. But Berthold did go to Mount Carmel and there established his monastery as the result of his inspiration.

The panel to the left presents the figure of the Prophet Elias seeing in a cloud over the distant mountains the vision of Our Blessed Lady; beside him his servant or minister, watching the raincloud form over the sea beyond the mountain.

"Per hoc namque puer Elias vidit de mare nubeculum parvam orien. revelavit Deus Elias, quod B. Maria, per illam nubeculam significata nascereur de humana designata mare." (S. Joannes Nepomucen.)

The figure of a woman (the widow of Sarepta) with her child is suggested in the angel back of the prophet as a symbol of mercy.

The panel to the right presents the figure of "Little Teresa," presented to Our Lady to St. Teresa of Jesus, as indicative of her recent canonization, and St. Simon Stock receiving the scapulars of Berthold keeping the Elias vision, etc.

An interesting feature of the Church is that the entire structure is erected on one hundred and forty concrete piles, each pile being driven into the ground to a depth of twenty-three feet.

The Church, exclusive of the cloister, is approximately 120 feet long and is 51 feet across the nave portion. The transept measures 71 feet from wall to wall, while the measurement from the ground level to the apex of the slate roof is 60 feet.

The main and side altars, by Benziger Brothers, are designed in Tudor Gothic style and executed in Italian Statuary marble. Statuary marble is also used for the altar rail, while the gates are in bronze.

Cornerstone was laid Sunday, October 8, 1922.

Charles J. Mitchell, R. A., A. I. A.
William Krause of Northern Liberties had advertised that he created a "permastone" material to be used in lieu of the limestone which had to be carved by hand then inserted onto the spaces at lintels, posts, jambs, etc... The permastone was applied like concrete. Krause's material, he said, was first made from the Civil War years (1860s) and used in many brick and stone buildings mostly in North Philadelphia, then elsewhere in the City. It was less expensive and required less craftsmanship and error than using limestone.

Our Lady of Mount Carmel's church in 1923 applied "Economy Concrete Stone" instead of limestone as the trim on the building. This material would have had to be approved by architect Mitchell for his plan of the design's execution and how the material would be used. The 1924 "Dedication Souvenir" commented that the church was "erected at a cost so low as to astonish even those who are acquainted with his (the pastor, not architect) high order of ability." (The pastor took all credit for the church's design.) Mitchell's knowledge of new materials created for construction, as well as for embellishment on buildings brought the "Economy" company to Mount Carmel.
(above)
Our Lady of Mt. Carmel's north wall or facade is on the 200 block of Wolf Street at Third Street.

Left is facade's profile, with the projected vestibule.

(Photographs by nominator in March, 2021.)
East side along American Street shows side aisle's projection, access at transept and five bays with large windows. An outer window covers the tracery on the windows.

Below, close-up of east transept. Note the concrete stone trim.
The sealed structure with blind arches is attached to one of the sacristies -- it is not a contributing property in this nomination.

This structure has little architectural relationship with the Rectory (1901), except to physically link to the church, not stylistically.

This cloister was constructed in 1922-1923 with the church, but can be dismantled to separate the Church from the Rectory, a brick, Italianate in fair condition.

This view looks westward.
Our Lady of Mt. Carmel Rectory (1901-1903) by Jacob Naschold.

RECTORY

Although difficult to photograph because of the trees blocking views from the north and west (facade) sides, this red brick Italianate three-story has an asymmetrical facade with rounded arch windows on the first level and rectangular windows on the second and third levels. The asphalt roof extends well beyond the walls of this building, the original plan in a square; then afterward extended to the northwest corner. Three steps lead to the main portal, which is under a pediment extending about two feet and supported by brackets. A modern door and windows replace originals; decorative iron grates cover only the facade's basement windows. The double stairs to the portal have an original wrought iron railing in a flourish design. Concrete is over a limestone (?) trim on the windows, cracked and gone in many places. The brick needs powerwashing and pointing. Painting is needed everywhere, especially at the metal under the roof's eaves and decorative wrought iron. The later building extensions require the same attention. The main feature, the corner element, is mostly obscured by trees, but its pyramidal roof is an attractive, quirky "exclamation point" to the building which needs more care.

This building is a contributing property.

3 Philadelphia Real Estate Record and Builders' Guide, May 1, 1901.
West side of church facing South Third Street has projecting side aisle and "buttress" between church and vestibule.

Below is view closer to transept and rectory. The handicap access is from a circular ramp.

Covered passageway between Church and Rectory has sealed arches, masking a "cloister" appearance.
First interior photographs of (just completed) Church in 1923. Cardinal Dennis Dougherty consecrated the church in 1922. Dougherty would participate in Thérèse Martin's canonization, and the saint would become one of his favorites. South wall (rear) top; North wall below.
STATEMENT of SIGNIFICANCE:

Our Lady of Mount Carmel church and rectory are in the Whitman neighborhood of South Philadelphia's far southeast corner. Founded in 1896 on the feast of Our Lady of Mount Carmel (July 16th), the church's architectural value is in how the design and the odd sculptural relief above the portal really date the church to the early 1920s. The architect of the church, Charles J. Mitchell, AIA, designed what he called a "Gothic...with a feeling of Tudor" which is not a traditional "Roman Catholic" architectural style. But, adding more to the uniqueness of this church is the sculptural architecture at the facade: a two-panel relief relating a history of the Carmelite Order and then, the contemporary news of two Carmelite nuns, one just canonized (Sister Teresa of Jesus from Chile) and one awaiting canonization (Thérèse Martin, the "Little Flower.") Architectural sculpture was barely seen in the early 1920s, and not on buildings as public as a church. For architectural construction, the building's components are unusually heavy for a "Gothic," but the modified "blunt" Gothic-type of arch explains why "140 concrete piles" were "dropped into the ground to a depth of 23 feet." Architect Mitchell was a member and adherent of the "T-Square Club's" mission to unite artists of various media with architects; at the nominated church building, Mitchell applied unusual and rarely used treatments to his building design, resulting in this atypical structure.

To Roman Catholics in the early 20th century, the news on a growing devotion to a young Carmelite nun from Normandy, France, reached world-wide attention. In Philadelphia, Thérèse Martin, OCD was known through the Carmelite Monastery's prioresses' publications throughout the Archdiocese, fostered by the first Cardinal's own interest in Martin. Cardinal Dennis Dougherty, one of Philadelphia's most powerful leaders from the 1920s to his death in 1951 promoted

---

4 The "Roman Catholic" architectural styles are Romanesque, Gothic and Baroque. The House of Tudor in England was Protestant, from the early 16th to early 17th centuries. 
6 Mitchell's writing on church in "Dedication Souvenir." 
the cause of Thérèse Martin, as a cardinal participating in her canonization at the Vatican. Dougherty would also consecrate Our Lady of Mount Carmel's cornerstone in 1922, just before leading over 500 individuals from Philadelphia overseas for the canonization.

One need not be a Catholic to appreciate the church and the quasi-Italianate rectory which dates from 1901 (the contributing property). They are in contrast to the rows of two-story residences for this working-class community, the descendants of those who had survived the perils of draining the waters from the present-day stadium area. A formidable Eastern European Jewish community was adjacent, if not intermingled with the Catholics here (before most of the Jews left to re-settle in Northeast Philadelphia.) Whitman's flat area, just off the Delaware River, was a refuge for renegades to the "Neck," or those wanting isolation, until development in the early 1920s, when Mount Carmel's Catholic population increased.

The nominated buildings are memorials to the "when" and "why" they were designed. The criteria, (d) and (f) are discussed to further the merits of the church building, the primary nomination, with the Rectory, the secondary or contributing property noted.

Celeste A. Morello, MS, MA
March, 2021
(During COVID-19 limitations)

---

8 Archdiocesan Staff, Our Faith-Filled Heritage. Strasbourg: 2007, p.84.
Our Lady of Mount Carmel Church's
TUDOR GOTHIC
architectural characteristics

niche under gable

gable centered at facade

dominant window
blunt Tudor arch

vertical flanks

slit opening

squared element for portal, and, sculpture

Facade's bays.

(Source of photo: Watkin.)
Our Lady of Mount Carmel Church in Whitman...

(d) Embody distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style:

"TUDOR GOTHIC"

The nominated church's architect, Charles J. Mitchell (1892-1957) described his design in 1922 as "Gothic...with a feeling of Tudor." In many instances, an architect would relate the design of a Roman Catholic church with the person after whom the building is named. Here, Our Lady of Mount Carmel refers to apparitions to the prophet Elias (before Christ, in the Old Testament) and to the 13th century, with St. Simon Stock, an Englishman and Carmelite from the Order founded in 1155. Why Mitchell would plan a Catholic church in a design associated with one of the greatest persecutors of Irish Catholics, and one who dissented from Roman Catholicism to found his own church is puzzling. King Henry VIII, from the House of Tudor reigned Great Britain after his father, Henry VII took the throne in 1485. The House of Tudor would rule Britain until 1603, with Elizabeth I, Henry VIII's daughter, as the last regent. However, art historians have divided "Tudor Gothic" into two periods: 1485 to 1534, the "Catholic" years when influence from the Italian Renaissance brought artists and sculptors to England; then the 1534 to 1603 period which had few buildings of note after Henry VIII broke with Roman Catholicism, began the Church of England (or "Anglican Church") and ignored any art aligned with Rome and Roman Catholicism. Domestic architecture in England took precedence. And Catholic churches constructed prior to 1485 and still not completed during Tudor rule would bear some "Tudor Gothic" characteristics. But these examples are few. A review of "Tudor Gothic" possible prototypes that Mitchell could have studied produced Cambridge University's King's College Chapel (1446-1515) on the previous page. This building was finished while Henry VIII was still Catholic.

Our Lady of Mount Carmel church's similarities in its architectural characteristics with the Tudor Gothic King's College Chapel are visually detailed on page 17. There is the feigned "gateway" component at the South Philadelphia church's projecting vestibule within a square form, just as in England. The type of Gothic arch termed as "blunt" is on the church and chapel, with tracery more intricate at the top of the arch; then descending bands to the sills present the verticals. Large windows, or sets of windows are typical of Tudor Gothic. Pevsner categorized the style more as "Perpendicular Gothic... (which was) during the Tudor dynasty..." Janson, another art historian agreed, writing that the "Perpendicular Style" or "Late English Gothic" had a "vertical accent" while Zarnecki phrased the English "Perpendicular as stressing vertical." While Mount Carmel church's height of "60 feet" may not be so impressive, the exterior's windows' "Economy concrete stone" trim elongates the windows at the top at bottom. (See pages 9 and 10.) Squarish windows are made longer and larger by the trim. Emphasis on the windows of Tudor Gothic also minimized attention to the masonry, which wrote Summerson, was in "a steady decline" under the Tudors. Symmetry was also not of importance with many projected building additions in Tudor Gothic. At Mount Carmel, notable is the updated version of the Late Gothic "Lady Chapel" (dedicated to the Blessed Virgin Mary) on the east (American Street) side. This type of structure appeared after the medieval "cult to Mary" waned with the many "Notre Dames" all over France and the Continent. (Notre Dame is French for "Our Lady" as in "Our Lady" of Mount Carmel.) "Lady Chapels" became more frequent after 1400, in keeping some form of devotion in a separate building dedicated to Our Lady.

---

Above: The perspective from Wolf Street.

Our Lady of Mount Carmel's design can be counted as part of an architectural scheme among the Roman Catholic churches east of Broad Street and south of Washington Avenue for those of Irish ancestry. First there was Sacred Heart of Jesus Church (c.1876), a Victorian Gothic by Edwin F. Durang, the parish from which Mount Carmel derived. Then, Frank Watson's Epiphany of Our Lord (c.1910) has more French Gothic characteristics in a revived version. This parish is at Mount Carmel's western border. So, the "Tudor Gothic" of Mount Carmel church complements the array of "Gothics" from the late 19th century for almost fifty years in South Philadelphia. However, "English Gothic" in Archdiocesan churches in the City was still popular, even more in the 20th century.
MAIL ORDERS
WILL
RECEIVE PROMPT ATTENTION

ESTIMATES ON CITY OR COUNTRY WORK

Wm. R. DOUGHERTY
Carpenter
Builder and Contractor

OFFICE
1604 AND 1606 SANSOM STREET
PHILADELPHIA

Particular attention given to Jobbing and all manner of Building
Repairs or Alterations to Churches, Dwellings,
Stores, Factories, Etc.

TELEPHONE CONNECTION

At the time when this advertisement was published in 1895, the WR Dougherty Company was at work on the Holmesburg Prison project, one of many large-scale buildings under contract.

The Philadelphia Real Estate Record and Builders' Guide named Dougherty as winning the bid for constructing the church building at Our Lady of Mount Carmel. Mitchell would have been familiar with Dougherty's work, which now would include securing the two architectural reliefs atop the portal--this was not a routine task. What is not recorded is if Dougherty had been the contractor to apply the Economy Concrete Stone that would have needed molds of the motifs and application at the surrounds.
ARCHITECTURAL SCULPTURE at Our Lady of Mount Carmel Church:

LEFT PANEL: A depiction of the prophet Elias on Mount Carmel (Israel) having a vision of the Blessed Virgin Mary on a cloud. With Elias is his servant, the widow Sarepte and her child.

RIGHT PANEL: A more contemporary history, St. Teresa of Jesus from Chile had just been canonized (1920) and with her is "Little Thérèse" (Martin) awaiting canonization. St. Berthold, founder of the Carmelite Order is seen with scapulars next to St. Simon Stock, an Englishman who brought the Carmelites to England. This program honors the Carmelite Order and Our Lady of Mt. Carmel who is with the Child Jesus in two statues at the portal.

The sculptor has not been identified, but this was executed 1922-23. Architect Mitchell recorded who was in each panel. (See p. 7.)
Our Lady of Mount Carmel church's facade's

ARCHITECTURAL SCULPTURE

(f) Contains elements of design, detail, materials or craftsmanship which represent a significant innovation.

Our Lady of Mount Carmel's parish history reported that in July of 1921, a fund was begun to construct a new and larger church. Sometime shortly after, Charles J. Mitchell was contracted to draw plans for the new church, which would have to be approved by the pastor and parishioners of Irish ancestry who would finance the entire project with art work. Mitchell had attended Catholic elementary and secondary schools, according to Tatman's research. He was also strongly influenced with the integration of art work with architecture, as seen in his interest in the "T-Square Club." "Organized" in 1885, the T-Square Club was a union of artists of various media with architects who would find areas in their buildings to install art or make the art integral to the structure. From ancient times, sculpture placed onto, atop or as part of the building effected more intent. As Janson would emote on the famous architectural sculpture at "The Lion Gate" in Mycenae (1250 B.C.): "a work integrated with the structure yet also a separate entity rather than a modified wall surface or block." ¹⁷ He and others saw "The Lion Gate" as "the direct ancestor of Greek architectural sculpture." ¹⁷ That element sufficed for pagan buildings in pediments, or in caryatids where human figures were representations of someone, or of an action.

(Source of image: Janson, p.91.)

"The Lion Gate"

¹⁵ PRERBG, December 14, 1921.
¹⁷ Janson, op.cit., p. 103.
For the architectural sculpture, Mitchell would have to consult with Roman Catholic sources: clergy and documentation. It is unknown who sculpted Mount Carmel church's friezes, or what sources had been consulted, but Mitchell explained the two panels and identified the figures. (See page 22.) Mitchell also seemed to have paid a visit to the Carmelite Monastery in the city, where the Carmelite Sisters had been—for years—promoting the cause for canonization of a young Norman-French nun, Thérèse Martin (1873-1897). Publications on Thérèse were distributed from the Philadelphia Sisters all over the nation while another Carmelite nun, Teresa of Jesus from Chile had just reached sainthood. These two Carmelites were very popular among Roman Catholics not just in the city, but over the world. Cardinal Dennis J. Dougherty, one of the City's most influential (who would attain mass parcels of real estate for the Archdiocese through his friend, Albert M. Greenfield), would participate in Thérèse's canonization, then lead hundreds from Philadelphia to the Vatican for the ceremony. Thérèse Martin was known as a Catholic celebrity from the World War I years to her canonization in 1925, and after, to the present. She would be sculpted on Mount Carmel church's right panel as "Little Thérèse" awaiting her official sainthood, along with pronounced saint, Teresa of Chile who died in 1920. Mount Carmel's architectural sculpture pays homage to these timely subjects of Catholic interest in the early 1920s.

It is also likely that if, hypothetically-speaking, Mitchell did visit the Carmelite Monastery for information on Teresa and Thérèse, that he did see the architectural sculpture on the Chapel's portal and portico extending to 66th Avenue. It is in the Lombard

---

18 I have nominated the Chapel of the Carmelite Monastery to the PHC with this nomination, although separately, in April, 2021.
The Philadelphia Premiere of the Film
"St. Thérèse of the Child Jesus:
An Echo of the Heart of God"

ARCHITECTURAL SCULPTURE
at the Carmelite Monastery's Chapel, c. 1920.

St. Teresa of Jesus from
Chile (1900-1920) on left.

Both Carmelite Sisters are
depicted on Our Lady of
Mount Carmel's relief on
the church's facade.

Tuesday, October 12, 1999
Wyndham Franklin Plaza Hotel

St. Thérèse Martin
Romanesque Style, part of the late 11th and early 12th centuries' movement to place architectural sculpture on Catholic churches. Art historians are hesitant to assert "where" and "when" this began: the dating of the Lombard Romanesque friezes and sculpted portals and portichi (porticoes) parallels to the sculpture on exteriors on the "Pilgrimage churches" in Toulouse, France and Santiago and Leon in Spain.\(^{20}\) If architect Mitchell saw the architectural sculpture at the Carmelite Monastery's Chapel—which also bore the same standing figure of Our Lady of Mount Carmel with the Child Jesus—it would serve as an affirmation to proceed with a similar art work at the South Philadelphia church. With his avid interest and knowledge obtained from his years at the T-Square Club, Mitchell would direct one of the few architectural sculptural programs (albeit two panels) on an Archdiocese of Philadelphia's church building. It would remain one of the rare art works, and one that had a contemporary historical subject. The relief/frieze also fell timely within the Art Deco trend on many secular, public buildings in Center City. So, for a "neighborhood" and "residential" area, this architectural sculpture was an anomaly, yet it raised the architectural value of Mitchell's building design.

But, historically, was Mitchell's decision for the architectural sculpture appropriate? English Gothic cathedrals originally heeded to St. Bernard of Clairvaux's advice\(^{21}\) to spare ornamentation. Niches in medieval English cathedrals held statues of monarchs and saints as commemorative, rather than decorative or didactic. Yet, as Mitchell was reliant upon the "Catholic" Tudor Gothic, there were instances where exteriors held architectural sculpture, even

---


\(^{21}\) Art history recites the frequent written clashes between Abbott Suger, the "inventor" of the Gothic Style and promoter of all embellishments on Gothic, and Bernard, an Abbott and saint who recommended spiritual inspiration from "books" and "not to read in the marble" (sculpture). Bernard's monks were responsible for the early English Gothic interpretations of the elaborate French Gothic. See Janson, pp. 300-301, and Zarnecki, pp. 252-366.
above portals or gateways. Henry VIII, while still practicing Roman Catholicism, was actively aware of the Italian Renaissance in art, architecture and sculpture. A competitive, young monarch, Henry invited Italian artesans to England to provide the same ornamentation which excited royalty on the Continent. Thus, in that "Catholic" Tudor Gothic period (1485-1534), the limited number of buildings that had not been destroyed by Henry after his conception of the Church of England bear some classical sculpture on exteriors. The most famous prototype is Hampton Court, originally the palace of (Catholic) Cardinal Wolsey where from c.1515 to 1529 "Medallions of terra cotta" and "putti and foliage in the spandrels of the hall roof" were in an "Italian" style. Cambridge University's gateway to St. John's College has decorated heraldry (1511). Because Henry's sheer renouncing of anything pertaining to "Rome" or "Roman," there had been massive stripping of "Catholic" English art and architecture. Pevsner recorded that the "Perpendicular Gothic" arose from the early "Protestant" Tudor Gothic years ("until 1550") and was influenced by "a Flemish Mannerist type" seen on domestic buildings. On their exteriors, these English structures had "cartouches, animal and human figure derivations, both caryatid and grotesque...a garbled version of classicism." Nevertheless, it was still architectural sculpture, despite the viewer's opinion. But for the Cambridge University Chapel and perhaps others not brought to the attention of art historians, English Gothic churches were not remarkable. Therefore, what Mitchell achieved at Our Lady of Mount Carmel church was a historical reminder of "Catholic" Tudor Gothic, before Henry would slaughter Irish Catholics en masse in a centuries-long siege where Protestants and Catholics continually drew blood in Ireland.

22 Pevsner, p. 296; Summerson, p. 24; Watkin, pp. 81-82.
23 Pevsner, op.cit., pp. 330-331. He provided no visuals.
Our Lady of Mount Carmel Church was described in the 1924 parish history as "second to none in the city in unity of conception and variety of detail, the two component features ...which we call beauty." Adding further on the church's design was the architect, Charles J. Mitchell who opined the church "to be one of the most beautiful buildings in the archdiocese(sic) and the most artistically designed edifice in the southern section of Philadelphia." A matter of taste, as well as preference, the church nonetheless carries the "Tudor Gothic" style, which for a religious building is hardly seen in the City (or Commonwealth). Moreover, the architectural sculpture on Tudor Gothic domestic structures would have been anomalous on English Gothic churches of any era, which at Mount Carmel is especially unique. These architectural characteristics may not have been recognized by those passing by, or going to services at Mount Carmel church, but they add to the spectacular array of styles in the City's Roman Catholic churches. These designs also contribute to the City's architectural history.

Our Lady of Mount Carmel's church merits historical designation for all of the foregoing reasons.

Celeste A. Morello, MS, MA
March, 2021
(During COVID-19 limitations)
BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES:


Dubin, Murray, South Philadelphia: Mummers, Memories and the Melrose Diner, 1996.


Janson, HW, History of Art. 1977.

Mahony, D. Historical Sketches. 1895.


Other sources:

Catholic Historical Research Center, Philadelphia.

Free Library of Philadelphia

"philadelphiahabuildings.org"

"Carmelite Monastery" pamphlets and history, (CHRC)

-- "The Carmelite Monastery" nomination is submitted with to the PHC with this nomination in April, 2021. Some information was used in the Mount Carmel church nomination with reference to the sculpture.

Temple University Charles Library.
HISTORY OF THE PARISH OF OUR LADY OF MT. CARMEL

On the sixteenth day of July, in the year 1896, the Archbishop of Philadelphia, the Most Reverend Patrick John Ryan, D.D., decided to erect a new parish in the southern part of the district which formed the parish of the Sacred Heart. Several reasons led to this decision. The increase of the population of the city had brought about the building of many new houses to the south of the Church of the Sacred Heart, and in many of these houses Catholic families lived. The result was the overcrowding of the old parish church. There was also an ever-increasing number of the faithful who had to walk considerable distances to attend Holy Mass. The territory thus separated from the old parish began at McKean Street and extended southward between the Delaware River and Seventh Street, having the Delaware River again as its boundary on the south. Since the day on which the new parish was erected was the Feast of Our Lady of Mt. Carmel, it was called the parish of Our Lady of Mt. Carmel.

For the work of establishing the new parish the Archbishop chose the Rev. Bernard F. Gallagher, assistant rector of the Church of St. Malachy, in Philadelphia. Father Gallagher was born in Ireland in 1856. His parents came to America, bringing him with them while still a boy, and settled in the Assumption parish, Philadelphia. He attended the parochial school, later going to St. Bonaventure’s College, Allegany, N.Y., and entering St. Charles’ Seminary, Overbrook, Pa., in the fall of 1873. After nine years of study and preparation for the priesthood he was ordained in the Cathedral at Philadelphia on June 3, 1882, by the Right Reverend Jeremiah F. Shanahan, D.D., Bishop of Harrisburg. His first appointment was as Assistant Rector of the Church of the Annunciation, Shenandoah, Pa., in which position he remained for about two and one-half years. Thence he was transferred to the Church of the Immaculate Heart, Chester, Pa., where he was Assistant Rector for fourteen months. In the early part of the year 1886 he was appointed Assistant Rector of the Church of St. Malachy, Philadelphia, in which parish he was stationed under the Very Reverend Edmond F. Prendergast, Vicar General of the Archdiocese, later Auxiliary Bishop and Archbishop of Philadelphia. This appointment lasted for more than ten years until the appointment to be pastor of the new parish came in 1896.

The task which confronted Father Gallagher would have discouraged a man of less forceful character and less indomitable courage. Business conditions were unfavorable, as 1896, being an election year, brought depression with it. The people of the new parish, being for the most part wage earners, felt keenly the burden of placing the new parish on its feet. And yet they set to with a will, determined to support to their utmost the earnest efforts of the new pastor. Looking forward to the day when their parish should be fully equipped, when there should stand in their midst a temple to God under the invocation of the Lady of Mt. Carmel, no sacrifice was too great for their warm-hearted devotion. And the pastor, realizing the heavy weight borne by his parishioners, appealed to the charity of those outside the parish, and through the kindness and generosity of the pastors of several of the older and larger parishes of the city he collected large sums of money to assist in financing the first needs of the new parish.
Due to the labors of pastor and people it was possible to rent two properties at the northeast corner of Third and Wolf Streets. It was in the store at the front of the corner house that the first Holy Masses were said in the parish by Father Gallagher at 5, 7:30 and 9:30 on Christmas Day, 1896. Services continued to be held in this temporary chapel until the dedication of the chapel in the first floor of the school building, and the houses were used by Father Gallagher as a rectory until the erection of the present rectory. Still later the same houses were to serve as a convent for the Sisters of Mercy.

In the meantime Father Gallagher had been occupied in forwarding the plans for more permanent arrangements to take the place of these temporary expedients. With the approval of the proper authorities he arranged for the purchase of the piece of land on the east side of Third Street between Wolf and Ritner Streets, extending back to American Street. This land, the site of the present parochial buildings, is 400 feet in length by 112 in width, and was purchased for $11,224.67.

On this ground was erected a building of brick construction, the first floor of which was to serve as a chapel, and the second as a school later when the growth of the parish should warrant it. The work on the new building progressed rapidly, for the dedication of the chapel took place less than nine months after Father Gallagher's appointment and the establishment of the parish. This was on Sunday, February 28, 1897. The ceremony was performed by the Right Reverend Edmond F. Prendergast, D.D., who had been consecrated Bishop of Scillio and Auxiliary Bishop to Archbishop Ryan four days previously, this being the new bishop's first pontifical ceremony. The Mass was celebrated by the Rev. A. A. Gallagher, of the Church of the Visitation, assisted by Rev. Joseph C. Kelly, of St. Mary's Church, as deacon, and Rev. R. F. Hannigan, of the Church of the Assumption, as subdeacon. The master of ceremonies was Rev. M. J. Crane, who had been associated with Father Gallagher as Assistant Rector at St. Malachi's. The Father Crane of these days is now the Titular Bishop of Curium, and Auxiliary Bishop to His Eminence, D. Cardinal Dougherty, the present Archbishop of Philadelphia.

The sermon, which was on the Sanctity of the Church, was preached by Rev. M. C. Donovan, then rector of St. Paul's Church, and now rector of St. Agatha's, West Philadelphia, and Domestic Prelate to His Holiness, Pope Pius XI. The choir rendered Haydn's Third (Imperial) Mass with Kreutzar's "Veni Creator" before the sermon, and Zingarelli's "Laudate Pueri" as an offertory. Benediction of the Most Blessed Sacrament followed the Mass at which the choir sang Kreutzar's "O Salutaris" and Faure's "Tantum Ergo." The ceremonies concluded with the singing of the "Te Deum" by Lambillotte.

In an address to the congregation Bishop Prendergast referred to his close relations with Father Gallagher as pastor and assistant for ten years at St. Malachi's and paid a tribute to "his earnestness, his attention to the spiritual wants of the people, his kindness of heart and his constant attention to his priestly duties."

Having attended to the present wants of the parish, Father Gallagher next turned to provisions for the future. Realizing that the boys and girls of today are the men and women of tomorrow, he was anxious to insure that the coming manhood and womanhood should be all that the ideals of Catholicity require. He wished to train these future men and women in Catholic faith and practice and to protect them from possible evil influences which might come from association with those whose lives were not guided by the light of faith. Hence he determined on the establishment of a parish school at the earliest possible moment. Application was made to the Sisters of Mercy...
at Merion, Pa., and when the sisters arrived the school was opened, in October, 1901, two hundred and twenty-five children being on the rolls. The second floor of the building completed in 1897 was divided into schoolrooms, and later with the increase of the number of pupils a third floor was added, providing for more schoolrooms.

About the time that the school was opened, Father Gallagher undertook another important work. It was recognized from the first that the houses rented at the corner of Third and Wolf Streets would serve as a rectory only temporarily. They were not built as a rectory, and were totally unfit for such use. Therefore, since provision had been made for a place of worship and the beginnings of a school were under way, a contract was awarded for the erection of the rectory which has housed the clergy of the parish ever since. It has a frontage of forty feet on Third Street, and was originally seventy-one feet in depth, an addition having since been made by Father Gallagher's successor. Its cost was $12,500.

With the end of the year 1908 the parish had been in existence for twelve years, during which time Father Gallagher had been Rector. A school had been built, in the first floor of which was housed the chapel, and a rectory had been erected. And in spite of all the money needed for this work there remained but $20,000 of debt on the parish in the form of a mortgage on the ground. It was at this time that the rectorate of St. Bridget's, in Falls of Schuylkill, became vacant, and the Archbishop transferred him to that church on January 1, 1909. He remained rector there until he died on November 21, 1918, at the age of sixty-two years. He was one of the older generation of priests, men of sturdy faith and unremitting work—the type of which Ireland sent such numbers to this country in the last century—to whom the Catholic Church in America owes a great debt. They were devoted to their people because their people were to them the sheep and the lambs of Christ's flock, and their people were devoted to them as to the shepherds in whose care the Lord had placed them.

Father Gallagher was succeeded by Rev. James A. Dalton, assistant rector of St. Columba's Church, Philadelphia. Father Dalton was born in Washington, D. C., June 17, 1866. While he was but a boy the family moved to Philadelphia, and he attended the parochial schools in St. Michael's and St. Joseph's parishes. He entered the Seminary at Overbrook in August, 1881, and was ordained to the priesthood in the Cathedral by the Archbishop, the Most Reverend Patrick John Ryan, on May 23, 1891. He was stationed temporarily during the summer of 1891 as assistant at St. Agatha's Church, West Philadelphia. Thence he was transferred to the Philadelphia Hospital at Blochley, another temporary appointment. Three months later he was moved to St. Leo's Church, Tacony, where he remained eleven months. This was followed by an appointment as assistant at the Cathedral. After nine months he was again transferred to the Church of the Immaculate Conception, Front and Allen Streets, an appointment which lasted nine years. On April 27, 1902, he was commissioned by President Theodore Roosevelt as a regular chaplain in the United States Army, and assigned to the Fifth United States Cavalry. He proceeded to the Philippine Islands, where the regiment was then stationed, and remained there until the regiment was ordered home a year and three months later. On his return he was stationed at several army posts in the Southwest during the next few years. On August 9, 1907, he resigned his commission and returned to Philadelphia. He was appointed as assistant rector at the Church of St. Columba, October 1, 1907, where he stayed until appointed as Rector at the Church of Our Lady of Mt. Carmel.
But to give the building fund a good start a new appeal was introduced. After consulting the opinions of the members of the parish at a meeting called for that purpose, Father Wheeler inaugurated a six weeks' campaign starting on the evening of Sunday, January 9, 1921. Holding a meeting each week, Mr. D. B. O'Loughlin, in charge of the campaign, whose ability needs no recommendation here, charged the people on to great and still greater sacrifices to the noble purpose. At the end of the six weeks about $31,000 had been pledged by the parishioners and their friends, and of this sum all but a small amount was promptly paid.

With the coming of the spring of 1922 Father Wheeler judged that the time had come to begin the actual construction of the church. He had been rector of the parish virtually five years. In that time he had not only raised the money to pay off the $42,000 debt which he found on taking up his duties as rector, but had also collected the sum of $55,000 over and above the current expenses of the parish for the purpose of building the church.

The date was accordingly set for the beginning of the great work: and on Sunday, April 22, 1922, the first spadeful of earth was dug from the site of the new church by the rector in the presence of the clergy of the parish and a large number of parishioners.

When there arose, stone by stone, the present beautiful structure, the culmination of the devout hopes of Father Gallagher and Father Dalton and of the earnest labors of Father Wheeler. When the foundations had been laid and the mere beginnings of the walls were rising from the ground, the cornerstone was laid. This ceremony took place on the Feast of the Most Holy Rosary, Sunday, October 1, 1922. The stone was laid by His Eminence, D. Cardinal Dougherty, Archbishop of Philadelphia. The deacon on this occasion was the Right Reverend Monsignor James Nash, rector of the Church of the Epiphany, and the subdeacon was the Right Reverend Monsignor Fenton J. Fitzpatrick, rector of the Church of St. Malachy. The master of ceremonies was the Reverend William J. Lallou, rector of the Church of St. Philip, and the chanters were the Reverend William A. Wachter and the Reverend John P. Thompson. A procession was formed which met the Cardinal at Moyamensing Avenue and Tasker Street and accompanied him to the parish buildings. At the conclusion of the ceremony the sermon was delivered by the Reverend William J. Garrigan, D. D., who spoke on the value of the Faith. In the course of his remarks he took occasion to congratulate the rector and people of the parish on the work they had undertaken. He said in part, “The church, therefore, to rise here in all its hoped-for grandeur and magnificence will stand as a monument to the courage, the zeal and the executive ability of your hard-working pastor, and will proclaim to future generations the extraordinary generosity of the people of Our Lady of Mt. Carmel and their deep abiding love for the Holy Faith.” His Eminence, the Cardinal, was unfortunately prevented by an untimely shower from voicing his felicitations to pastor and people.

And now the church stands completed, second to none in the city in unity of conception and variety of detail, the two component features of that thing which we call beauty. For a detailed description we refer the reader to another part of this volume. It is not proper, however, to close this account without once more stressing the self-sacrificing labor of Father Wheeler in the erection of the church. It is due to his vigilance that while it is a real work of art, it has nevertheless been erected at a cost so low as to astonish even those who are acquainted with his high order of ability. It was only possible through the finest balancing of all the requirements of art against the desire to avoid burdening the parish with an insupportable debt.
Born: 3/7/1892, Died: 10/28/1957

Charles J. Mitchell, a specialist in the design of Catholic church and institutional projects, was born in Philadelphia, the son of Anna Maria and James William Mitchell. After classes at St. John's Parochial School and graduation from Roman Catholic High School in 1911, Mitchell entered the office of Druckenmiller, Stackhouse & Williams, where he remained until 1915, attending the T-Square Club Atelier in the evenings from 1912 to 1913. His subsequent education in architecture included one year in the evening school offered by Drexel Institute and two years in the special course offered at the University of Pennsylvania, where he graduated in 1919, after having his stint at the University interrupted by service in World War I. In December, 1919, he, Wallace Hance of Wilmington, DE, and Richard Neely established Hance, Mitchell & Neely, an ambiguous organization which does not appear in the Philadelphia city directories. Mitchell & Neely appear in the Philadelphia Real Estate Record and Builders Guide at least into 1920, but Mitchell's application for membership in the Philadelphia Chapter, AIA, indicates that Hance, Mitchell & Neely was in operation from 1919 to 1921, a declaration which is not supported by other information available. After this partnership Mitchell operated independently, specializing in ecclesiastical and residential design. In 1937 he moved to Washington, DC, where he was part of the office of the District Supervising Architect for the Public Works Act.

Mitchell also achieved some reputation as the author of 52 architectural articles for the Sunday edition of the Public Ledger newspaper.

Written by Sandra L. Tatman.

Clubs and Membership Organizations

- Philadelphia Art Alliance
- Knights of Columbus
- Pennsylvania Academy of the Fine Arts
- American Institute of Architects (AIA)
- Philadelphia Chapter, AIA
- T-Square Club

School Affiliations

- University of Pennsylvania
- Drexel Institute
This publication (Spring, 2021) demonstrates the on-going popularity and relevance of St. Therese Martin, OCD, who was portrayed on Our Lady of Mt. Carmel's sculptural relief. Known as "The Little Flower," this magazine is devoted to maintaining her celebrity.
RESURRECTION: NEW LIFE

WHEN ONE LIVES IN THE NORTHERN STATES, the struggle of life breaking through the hard, cold earth brings the excitement of renewed life. Nature celebrates the resurrection of hope and brightens the heart. The sun stays longer and feels so much warmer.

Trees and bushes bud and leaf. Life is returning. We know our God cares about us in a very tangible way. God raised Jesus to life from the cold, hard tomb. Jesus took everything human to God and made us holy. Easter is such a wonderful holy day. We live in hope of the many dyings and risings in our own life, and that all creation breaks out in celebration of life.

St. Thérèse loved the seasons in her native Normandy. In her profound “Little Way,” she spoke of the cycles and faithfulness of God's love. From Thérèse, we learn the lesson of attending to God's creation and seeing the moods of His love for us.

Thank you for being a sign of life to us and to so many others in what can seem to be very dark and isolated times.

Please know that the Carmelite Priests, Brothers, and Nuns remember you and your intentions at Mass and community prayer each day. Thank you for being signs of the Risen Jesus. Thank you for being springtime. Thank you for being an Easter people of Hope.

A Blessed Spring and Easter,
Rev. Thomas Schrader, O. Carm.
Director

IN THIS ISSUE

2 From the director
   Resurrection: new life

3 From the editor
   You are not alone

4 Seasons of life
   Carmelite family resurrections

8 Cover Story
   Resurrection: new life

12 The Canadian corner
   Hope and help for many

14 Someone you should know
   My journey with St. Thérèse

15 From the Special Gifts Office
   Estate planning mistakes that may cost you dearly

COVER IMAGE:
Getty Images/AYImages

Between Friends

A publication for the friends of the Society of the Little Flower

SPRING 2021
Father Thomas Schrader, O. Carm.
DIRECTOR/PUBLISHER
Mary Lambert
EDITOR/DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR
Father Bob Colaresi, O. Carm.
Mary Lambert
Father Gerard Power, O. Carm.
Daniel Pritchard
CONTRIBUTING WRITERS

Society of the Little Flower
1313 N. Frontage Rd.,
Darien, Illinois 60561-5340
600.621.2806
www.littleflower.org

The Monastery of Mt. Carmel
Society of the Little Flower
7020 Stanley Ave.,
Niagara Falls, Ontario
1-20.7187
800.922.7622
can.littleflower.org

FAITH CATHOLIC
Patrick Daly
GRAPHIC DESIGNER
During those trying times, people reached out to St. Thérèse and The Society of the Little Flower for prayers and intercession. Our offices in Canada remained closed to the public, but the phone lines, online orders, and mail orders kept teeming in! It was a challenge to keep up with everything when the postal system was so slow. But St. Thérèse saw us through. She always does.

We had to celebrate St. Thérèse’s feast day with a virtual Mass that was livestreamed to the public. We couldn’t have the huge crowds around our beautiful monastery property. I had the joy and honour of presiding at this Eucharist. Although no one, other than the priests and musicians, could be present physically, in my heart and soul, everyone was present. You were there in a deeply spiritual way, because Eucharist transcends all history and all time. Your intentions were on that sacred altar that day, as they are every single time we celebrate Mass in our churches and chapels around our Order of Carmel.

And joyfully, with the generosity of our donors and benefactors, we continued to support our formation programs and seminaries throughout North and South America, and other parts of the world. For that we are grateful. May God bless you for your continued generosity.

**New life ... resurrection**

- What were people seeking from St. Thérèse? People were looking for strength, looking for hope, looking for help, looking for new life from this greatest saint of modern times. People needed their pain eased and their fears dispelled. Death to resurrection, darkness to light! Only those who know Thérèse’s story, can fully understand how important hope was to her. As 2020 was drawing to a close, word came that a vaccine had been approved for Canada and the United States...
and other parts of the world. This gave us the hope we needed as we entered 2021, that things would change, that things would get better. But it was at a great cost.

Thérèse once wrote, "All my hopes will be fulfilled. The Lord will work wonders for me which will surpass infinitely my immeasurable desires." Throughout her entire life, no matter what she suffered and endured, Thérèse longed for the beatific vision. That was her goal. She suffered so much during her short life, experienced many losses, her faith was tried and tested, and she endured many physical illnesses. With Christ at the center of her life, and at the core of her being, she found the strength she needed to navigate through her earthly life. She did say, "The world's thy ship and not thy home." She knew there were better things to come.

Hope and trust in Christ were keys for her. And with the Motherly protection, and comfort, (and even the smile) from the Blessed Virgin Mary, Thérèse was able to carry her burdens. If we can learn anything from St. Thérèse, it's that with God, all things are possible. God can see us from death to new life, from death to resurrection.

All throughout this COVID-19 pandemic, people needed to cling to hope. If we lose hope, we can never manoeuvre through a storm. Hope is that flame we need when the darkness overshadows us. Thérèse knew that. Did she ever! My prayer is that all of us will cling to hope, come what may. Like Therese, may we keep rooted in our faith, and give God the helm of our ship. And God will help us weather any storm, and lead us all safely home. May St. Thérèse, the Little Flower, continue to shower upon us Roses of healing and strength.

---

**Father Gerard Power, O.Carm.** is the new Director in Canada of the Society of the Little Flower. Father Gerard was born in St. John's, Newfoundland, and raised in St. Mary's Bay. He joined the Carmelites in Washington, D.C., in 1993, professing his simple vows in Middletown, New York, in June 1995. He professed his solemn vows at Mount Carmel Monastery Chapel in Niagara Falls in 1998, and was also ordained to the priesthood at the Monastery Chapel in 1999. He was the last Carmelite ordained in the last millennium. Father Gerard currently serves as Pastor of St. Patrick Parish in Niagara Falls. He also serves on several boards and commissions within the Province of the Most Pure Heart of Mary. He has been a Civilian Inspector and Auxiliary Chaplain with the Niagara Regional Police Services since 2009.